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INTRODUCTION 
The Philadelphia City Planning Commission has requested that the Philadelphia Historical 
Commission review the historical development of South Planning District and ongoing historic 
preservation initiatives in the area and then offer recommendations for enhancing those 
initiatives that might be incorporated into the plan, one of the 18 district plans that will 
accompany the overall Comprehensive City Plan, Philadelphia2035. In response to the request, 
the staff of the Historical Commission offers the following informal recommendations that have 
not been vetted by the 14-member Historical Commission itself. 
 
THE SOUTH PLANNING DISTRICT 
The South Planning District is located on the peninsula created by the Schuylkill and Delaware 
Rivers south of Center City Philadelphia. The District encompasses nearly all of the residential 
areas of South Philadelphia. It is bounded at the north by the Schuylkill River; Ellsworth Street 
between the river and Grays Ferry Avenue; Grays Ferry Avenue to Washington Avenue; 
Washington Avenue to Broad Street; Broad Street to Christian Street; Christian Street to Front 
Street; Front Street to Reed Street; and the line of Reed Street to the Delaware River. The 
District is bounded on the east by the Delaware River from line of Reed Street to the Walt 
Whitman Bridge. The District is bounded on the south and southwest by the I-76 right-of-way 
from the Delaware River to Passyunk Avenue. The District includes the small residential 
enclave west of I-76 bounded by Passyunk Avenue, S. Dover Street, and S. 28th Street. The I-
76 right-of-way forms the western boundary from S. 28th Street to Wharton Street. The boundary 
then runs west along Wharton Street to S. Harmony Street; south along S. Harmony Street to 
the line of Reed Street; and west along the line of Reed Street to the Schuylkill River and the 
point of origin. Although this memorandum is focused on historic resources within the boundary 
of the South District, some recommendations relate to resources that either span the boundary 
or are located just outside the boundary, but that participated in the developmental history of the 
District. 
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CURRENT HISTORIC PRESERVATION ACTIVITIES IN THE SOUTH PLANNING DISTRICT 
Created by City Council ordinance in 1955, reorganized in 1985, and reorganized again under 
Section 14-1000 of the Philadelphia Code in 2012, the Philadelphia Historical Commission is 
responsible for ensuring the preservation of historically significant buildings, structures, sites, 
objects, interiors, and districts in the city. The Commission identifies and designates historic 
resources, listing them on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places, and then regulates those 
resources for preservation through the Cityôs building and other permitting processes. 
 
Within the South Planning District, 682 properties (excluding condominium units) are listed on 
the Philadelphia Register. There are approximately 12,000 properties (23,000 if condominium 
units are included) in total on the Philadelphia Register of Historic Places. The addresses of the 
historically-designated properties in the South Planning District are provided in an appendix. 
Currently, there is one historic district within South Planning District listed on the Philadelphia 
Register, the Girard Estate Historic District. 
 
The National Park Service, a federal agency, and the Pennsylvania Historical & Museum 
Commission, a state agency, maintain the National Register of Historic Places in the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The federal and state governments protect historic resources 
by factoring historic preservation into their decision-making whenever they are involved with 
construction projects directly or through funding, permits, licenses, or other indirect means that 
may impact historic resources listed on and eligible for the National Register. Two National 
Register Historic Districts are located within the South Planning District, the Southwark Historic 
District and the Washington Avenue Historic District. The addresses located within these 
districts are included in the appendix. 
 
The following public school buildings within the South Planning District are listed on the National 
Register as elements of the Philadelphia Public Schools Thematic Historic District. 

¶ 2136 Ritner Street, Edgar Allen Poe School 

¶ 2700 Morris Street, Anthony Wayne School - converted to senior housing 

¶ 1501 S 17th Street, George W. Childs School 

¶ 1801 S 22nd Street, Delaplaine McDaniel Public School 

¶ 2102 S 24th Street, Edwin H. Vare Junior High School 

¶ 1700 Bigler Street, F. Amadee Bregy Public School 

¶ 3200 Dickinson Street, James Alcorn School 

¶ 1900 Wharton Street, Walter George Smith Public School 

¶ 1235 S 16th Street, Norris S. Barrett/Jeremiah Nichols School 

¶ 1201 S 23rd Street, David Landreth  School 

¶ 1501 S 7th Street, Eliza B. Kirkbride School 

¶ 1150 Wharton Street, James Wilson Public School; Annunciation BVM 

¶ 1213 S 12th Street, Federal Street School; Andrew Jackson School 

¶ 1198 S 5th Street, George Washington Public School 

¶ 627 Carpenter Street, George W. Nebinger Public School 

¶ 1621 E Moyamensing Ave, Abigail Vare School 

¶ 1821 S 9th Street, Southwark School 

¶ 1901 S 9th Street, Edward Bok Vocational School 

¶ 1900 S 3rd Street, Horace Howard Furness Public School 

¶ 2250 S 8th Street, Francis Scott Key School 

¶ 2300 S 2nd Street, George Sharswood School 
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¶ 900 Oregon Ave, D. Newlin Fell School 

¶ 2746 S 9th Street, George C. Thomas School 
 
The following buildings within the South Planning District are listed individually on the National 
Register. 

¶ 2724 S 20th Street, Defense Personnel Support Center; Philadelphia Quartermaster 
Depot; Army Quartermasters Inland Warehouse 

¶ 1429 Snyder Avenue, Baptist Institute for Christian Workers 

¶ 1100 S. Broad Street, Marine Corps Supply Activity 

¶ 904-38 S. Swanson Street, Gloria Dei; Old Swede's Church 
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PRESERVATION RECOMMENDATIONS 
The staff of the Historical Commission has preliminarily surveyed the Planning District and finds 
that there are many significant residential, recreational, institutional, commercial, and industrial 
sites that satisfy one or more Criteria for Designation to the Philadelphia Register of Historic 
Places as outlined in the historic preservation ordinance, Section 14-1000 of the Philadelphia 
Code. Given the cursory nature of this survey, priorities for consideration for designation have 
not been assigned to the potential historic resources. Historic resources that may satisfy one or 
more Criteria for Designation are called out in the following summary of the developmental 
history of the South District and, for clarity, are also listed in an appendix. 
 
Early Inhabitants 
The first inhabitants of the Philadelphia region, the ancestors of the Lenape, arrived between 
10,000 and 12,000 years ago. Widely scattered and migratory, the first inhabitants lived 
primarily along the edges of rivers in places that have likely been submerged since the end of 
the Ice Age. The climate in the Philadelphia area stabilized about 2,800 years ago, leaving a 
landscape that persisted until the interventions of the last few centuries. After the climate 
stabilized, the Native American peoples in the region became more sedentary and developed 
agricultural systems and permanent settlements.  By the early sixteenth century and the arrival 
of the first Europeans in the Mid Atlantic region, the Lenape, Native Americans with a common 
language, customs, and heritage, lived in a dozen or more bands or groups in what is now 
southeastern Pennsylvania. Two of these bands, the Passyunk and the Wequiaquenske, 
inhabited territories in what is now South Philadelphia. The Passyunk occupied a territory on the 
eastern bank of the Schuylkill River, north of its confluence with the Delaware River. Passyunk 
means ñIn the Valley.ò The Wequiaquenske occupied a territory on the western bank of the 
Delaware River, north of Hollander Creek, where Southwark and Pennsport are now located. 
Wequiaquenske, also known as Wicaco, likely means ñPlace of Pine Trees at the Head of a 
Creek.ò Feeling the pressures of European settlement, most Lenape bands moved inland in the 
late seventeenth and early eighteenth centuries. By the 1730s, the Lenape had moved to 
central and western Pennsylvania. Although archaeological evidence of the Lenape inhabitation 
of the South District undoubtedly survives, no above-ground artifacts of the Native American 
settlements exist. 
 
European Settlement 
Europeans explored and settled the Delaware Valley in the sixteenth and seventeenth 
centuries. Verrazano may have navigated the Delaware as early as 1524. European traders and 
trappers likely ventured up the Delaware in the second half of the sixteenth century, but none 
settled. Henry Hudson visited Delaware Bay in 1609. In 1624, the Dutch West Indian Company 
established a small settlement at what is now Burlington, New Jersey, about 15 miles northeast 
of Philadelphia on the Delaware River. Two years later, the Dutch built Fort Nassau on the east 
bank of the Delaware, at what is now Gloucester, New Jersey, opposite South Philadelphia. 
 
The Dutch established small trading posts on the Delaware, but they did not colonize the area. 
The Swedes, who arrived not long after the Dutch, did colonize the lands along the west bank of 
the Delaware, founding New Sweden in 1638 at Fort Christina, at present-day Wilmington, 
Delaware. In 1643, Johan Printz, the third Swedish colonial governor, built Printzhof, a fortified 
log house, on Tinicum Island, near the present site of the Philadelphia International Airport. In 
1648, the Dutch built Fort Beversreede, a palisaded log fort, on the east bank of the Schuylkill at 
its mouth, at the southwestern corner of what is now South Philadelphia. In response, the 
Swedes erected a stockade directly in front of the Dutch fort. New Sweden persisted until 1655, 
when the Dutch conquered the colony and renamed it New Netherland. The Dutch colony of 
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New Netherland lasted only a decade. The English conquered it in 1664 and incorporated it into 
the Colony of New York. 
 
Although ruled by the Dutch from 1655 to 1664 and then the English from 1664 to 1682, the 
area around the confluence of the Schuylkill and Delaware was largely settled by Swedes and 
Finns in the middle of the seventeenth century. Dutch Governor Alexander dôHinojossa granted 
800 acres in Wicaco, now Southwark, to Sven Gunnarsson and his sons in 1664. That same 
year, dôHinojossa patented the area known as Moyamensing, south of Wicaco, to Olof Stille, 
Lars Andersson, and Marten Cleinsmit. Also in 1664, Peter Gunnarsson Rambo moved to 
Passyunk on the east bank of the Schuylkill. In 1669, Rambo obtained a patent for his 300 
acres from New York Governor Francis Lovelace. In 1667 or 1668, Robert Ashman was granted 
1000 acres to the south of the land owned by Peter Rambo. The Swedes were farmers and 
inhabited log houses like those of Scandinavian peasants. In 1677, Swan, Oele, and Andries 
Swanson converted a log blockhouse into a Lutheran church in Wicaco. Gloria Dei Church, 
which still stands just outside the boundary of the South District, replaced the log blockhouse 
between 1698 and 1700. By 1681, when Charles II granted William Penn a charter for the 
45,000 square miles of territory that would become Pennsylvania, about 50 farmers of Swedish, 
Finish, Dutch, and English descent lived on the land that would become Philadelphia. Many 
more Europeans, perhaps 2000 in total, lived along the Delaware, primarily south of the mouth 
of the Schuylkill. A similar number of Lenape resided in the region. 
 

 
Gloria Dei Swedish Lutheran Church, 904-38 S. Swanson Street, 1700 
 
In 1681 and 1682, William Penn and his agents purchased 1200 acres from Swedish farmers 
including the descendents of Sven Gunnarsson, on which Pennôs surveyor Thomas Holme laid 
out the gridded City of Philadelphia between the Schuylkill and Delaware Rivers and Cedar, 
now South, and Vine Streets. The peninsula south of Cedar Street was partitioned into three 
entities predicated on their historic Lenape and Swedish identities: Wicaco, later known as 
Southwark, directly south of the City along the Delaware; Moyamensing, occupying the eastern 
half of the peninsula, to the west and south of Wicaco; and Passyunk, to the west of 
Moyamensing, occupying the western half of the peninsula along the eastern banks of the 
Schuylkill. The land was primarily meadows to the north and tidal creeks and marshes along the 
rivers, especially at the southern end, which became known as the Neck. The 1750 Scull & 
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Heap map indicates that land south of the City of Philadelphia was dotted with a couple dozen 
farms and estates and crossed by a network of roads that followed the topography, not Pennôs 
grid. Greenwich Point Road ran down the Delaware bank to Point House at the southeastern 
corner of the peninsula, from which a ferry ran to Gloucester, New Jersey as early as 1688. 
Moyamensing Road followed its current course, running southwest from 2nd Street, bisecting the 
township of the same name. Passyunk Road followed its current course, running southwest 
from 5th Street through Moyamensing and Passyunk to the Schuylkill River. Long Road roughly 
followed the current course of Point Breeze Avenue, running southwest from the City limits at 
17th Street. Lower Ferry Road, renamed Grays Ferry Road, followed its current course, running 
southwest from the City limits at 23rd Street to the important Schuylkill River crossing and then 
on to Chester and Wilmington and beyond. In 1696, the Governor ordered his surveyor to lay 
out a road from the southern edge of the City to Benjamin Chambersô ferry across the Schuylkill. 
By 1747, George Gray was managing the ferry. That year, Lower or Grays Ferry Road was 
described as ñan ancient Road in use before the Grants of the province.ò Running southeast 
from the elbow of Lower or Grays Ferry Road, Buck Road crossed Long Road and Passyunk 
Road and terminated at the southern end of Moyamensing Road. A later but important 
thoroughfare, Penrose Ferry Road, also called Rope Ferry Road, ran southwest from Passyunk 
Road at what is now about 18th Street to the mouth of the Schuylkill, where a ferry crossed the 
river. 
 

 
Detail of Scull & Heap Map of Philadelphia, 1750 
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Early Urban Development along the Delaware River 
Focused on the Delaware River, William Pennôs City of Philadelphia grew outward in a crescent 
shape from High or Market Street at the Delaware River. As nearly everyone traveled by foot in 
eighteenth-century Philadelphia, development was dense to limit the walking distances between 
home, work, and the market. Narrow streets and alleys lined with brick houses, and shops, and 
workshops soon bisected the generous blocks of Pennôs ñgreene county towne.ò As 
Philadelphiaôs population grew from 2000 in 1701 to 23,000 in 1775, development spread south 
beyond the City limit at Cedar, now South, Street. Evidencing this development, in 1762 the 
Pennsylvania Legislature created the municipality of Southwark, which was bounded roughly by 
Cedar Street at the north, Passyunk Road at the west, and Mifflin Street at the south. Southwark 
was incorporated in 1794. 
 

 
Detail of John Hills Map of Philadelphia showing Southwark, 1796 
 
Although now known primarily as a residential area, South Philadelphia has a long and 
distinguished history as an industrial zone. Ship building was the first major industry to locate in 
the South District. Shipbuilders, who required large tracts of land, and associated industries like 
lumber yards and rope and sail makers, established themselves in the relatively open areas 
along the Delaware south of the urban core and, by the second half of the eighteenth century, 
Southwark was a shipbuilding center. Nicholas Scullôs 1762 map of Philadelphia depicts 
numerous wharves along Swanson Street on the Delaware bank from Cedar Street south to 
Wicaco Lane (at present-day Washington Avenue) and numerous buildings along Swanson, 
Front, and 2nd Streets. The 1762 map also depicts the Association Battery, a fort erected at the 
urging of Benjamin Franklin in 1747 by the Association, a volunteer militia. Located where 
Washington Avenue now intersects with Delaware Avenue, the fortôs original 27 guns were 
increased to 50 by 1750. A 1777 map documents that urban Southwark extended south to 
Christian Street and west to 3rd Street, with occasional dense developments beyond the urban 
core, for example on the south side of Greenwich between 2nd and Moyamensing. A 1795 map 
shows Southwark densely settled south to Prime Street (near present-day Washington Avenue) 
and west to Moyamensing, with enormous rope walks farther west on both sides of Passyunk 
from Christian to Prime.  John Hillôs 1796 map indicates that the Association Battery had been 
demolished and replaced by a series of shipyards, wharves, and landings including Joshua 
Humphreysô renowned shipyard. Humphreys established his shipbuilding business in Southwark 
in 1774 with John Wharton. During the Revolution, Humphreys designed, built, and retrofitted 
warships for the Americans. In 1794, President Washington appointed Humphreys to the 
position of Naval Constructor, through which he designed, built, and supervised the building of 
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the U.S. Navyôs first six frigates including the Constitution (Old Ironsides) at shipyards from 
Norfolk, Virginia to Portsmouth, New Hampshire. Humphreysô own shipyard in Southwark built 
the frigate United States, launched 10 May 1797. In 1801, at the request of the Secretary of the 
Navy, Humphreys converted his shipyard and adjacent land into the first U.S. Naval Yard. Many 
of the young countryôs most important warships were built at the Naval Yard including the 74-
gun North Carolina in 1820, considered the most powerful naval vessel of its time; the 
Mississippi, the first steam-powered, paddle-wheel Naval ship, in 1841; and the Princeton, the 
worldôs first screw-propelled iron warship in 1843. By the Civil War, the Navy Yard employed 
about 3,000 workers. After the war, in 1868, the federal government took title to League Island, 
at the south end of South Philadelphia, and began construction of a new Navy Yard to replace 
the original facility, which had become hemmed in by the expanding city. In 1876, the U.S. Navy 
Yard in Southwark closed. No above-ground artifacts of Southwarkôs shipbuilding era appear to 
have survived, but archaeological evidence of the ship building industry including the Navy Yard 
is likely to be found. 
 

 
William Birch, Construction of the frigate Philadelphia at Humphrey & Wharton Shipyard, 
Southwark, 1798 
 
Bounded by Washington Avenue, Front Street, Tasker Avenue and 3rd Street, the section of 
Southwark centered on Federal Street retains many late eighteenth- and very early nineteenth-
century row houses, which are emblematic of historic ship building and seafaring community. 
Important examples of these houses, which can be found on the following blocks, may merit 
designation as a group as the Federal Street Thematic Historic District: 

¶ Alter Street: 100 block 

¶ Ellsworth Street: 100 block 

¶ Federal Street: 100, 200 blocks 



10 
 

¶ Manton Street: 100, 200 blocks 

¶ South Front Street: 1000, 1100, 1500 blocks 

¶ Tasker Street: 100 block 

¶ South 2nd Street: 1500 block 

¶ East Moyamensing Avenue: 1100, 1200, 1400 blocks 

¶ Greenwich Street: 100, 200 blocks 

¶ Dickinson Street: 100, 200 blocks 

¶ Wharton Street: 100 block 

¶ South Howard Street: 1300, 1400 blocks 

¶ Wilder Street: 100 block 
 

 
Late eighteenth-century houses on the 200 block of Federal Street 
 
James Ronaldson, a Scotsman who settled in Philadelphia in 1794, led the effort to found the 
Southwark Soup Society in 1805, the first of many such charities in Philadelphia. Ronaldson, 
one of Southwarkôs most active residents, teamed with Archibald Binny to establish one of 
Americaôs first type foundries in 1796, and, in 1825, he became the first president of the Franklin 
Institute. The Southwark Soup Society, which was located at 833 S. Hancock Street, provided 
aid to the ñdeserving poor,ò distributing soup and bread during winters. In 1949, the society 
merged with the Union Benevolent Association. The soup house deserves consideration for 
inclusion on the Philadelphia Register. 
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Southwark Soup Society, 833 S. Hancock St Sparks Shot Tower, 101-31 Carpenter St 
 
A major landmark in American industrial history, the countryôs first shot tower for manufacturing 
gunshot stands at 101-31 Carpenter Street, on the northern edge of the South District. Built by 
plumber Thomas Sparks and his partner John Bishop in 1808, the Sparks Shot Tower 
revolutionized the making of musket balls and other solid projectiles based on the principle that 
molten lead will form perfect round balls when poured from a high place. Sparks and Bishop 
originally built the tower to manufacture hunting shot. Bishop, a Quaker, sold his share of the 
business when the tower began to manufacture ammunition for the War of 1812. The Sparks 
family produced ammunition for the Civil War and continued the business until 1903. The 
Sparks Shot Tower is now part of a City playground and is listed on the Philadelphia Register. 
 
In the early nineteenth century, industry began to diversify in the South Philadelphia. For 
example, Morris, Tasker & Companyôs Pascal Iron Works was founded in 1821 and grew to 
cover two city blocks from Moyamensing Avenue to S. 5th Street between Morris and Tasker 
Streets. Pascal Iron Works manufactured stoves, grates, and machine parts for sugar refineries, 
and had offices in Philadelphia and New York City. In 1835, when natural gas was introduced 
into Philadelphia, Pascal Iron Works became the first manufacturer of gas pipe in the country, 
which had been imported from England. Pascal Iron Works later developed universal standards 
for pipe dimensions that are still used today. An 1882 census of Philadelphia manufacturers 
recorded that Pascal Iron Works employed 569 men. In 1896, Pascal Iron Works moved their 
operations to Delaware and closed the large plant. The western block was redeveloped as 
houses; the eastern block was deeded to the City and redeveloped as Dickinson Square Park, 
which officially opened on 27 October 1900. Owing to its limited redevelopment, Dickinson 
Square Park may contain archaeological artifacts related to its industrial past. 
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Pascal Iron Works, demolished c. 1900 
 

 
Dickinson Square, bounded by Moyamensing Avenue and S. 4th, Tasker, and Morris Streets 
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Near Dickinson Square, a group of Gothic Revival twins on the 1700-block of E. Moyamensing 
Avenue, dating to the 1840s, provides a good example of an early alternative to rowhouse 
development and may qualify for designation. 
 

 
Gothic Revival twins on the 1700-block of E. Moyamensing Avenue 
 
In 1790, 7,052 people lived south of the City of Philadelphia in Southwark, Moyamensing, and 
Passyunk. The vast majority of the population, 5,661 or 80%, lived in Southwark, the 
shipbuilding community along the Delaware just south of the City line. Most of the remainder 
lived in the parts of Moyamensing just outside the borders of Southwark. A few people were 
scattered throughout the rural areas beyond. The overall population grew considerably during 
the decades leading up to Consolidation, with most people living in and adjacent to Southwark. 
Decadal census counts show constant population growth in South Philadelphia: 12,097 in 1800; 
17,586 in 1810; 20,314 in 1820; 29,003 in 1830; 43,715 in 1840; and 67,385 in 1850.  
 
In 1848, the political boundaries of Moyamensing and Passyunk were significantly altered. Prior 
to 1848, the peninsula of South Philadelphia was divided approximately in half with a north-
south line; Moyamensing occupied the eastern half and Passyunk the western half. In 1848, the 
boundary was shifted to an east-west line running near the line of McKean Street; Moyamensing 
now occupied the northern half and Passyunk the southern half. By 1850, with the development 
of the Pascal Iron Works and other industrial firms on the outer edges of Southwark and 
beyond, the population of Moyamensing, 26,979, began to rival that of Southwark, 38,799. 
Although the boundaries had shifted significantly in 1848, the vast majority of the residents of 
Moyamensing prior to the shift, who lived east of Broad Street and north of McKean, remained 
within the newly defined district. In 1850, only 1,607 persons resided in the newly-drawn 
Passyunk Township, the marshy, rural southern half of the peninsula. 
 
 
 
 
  


